PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

The Plymouth Board of Zoning Appeals met in regular session in the Council Chambers of the City
Building, 124 North Michigan Street, Plymouth, Indiana, on December 3, 2024, at 7:30 p.m. Board
President Art Jacobs called the meeting to order for Board member Mark Gidley, Alan Selge, Paul
Wendel, and Alternate Fred Webster. Alternate Linda Secor was in attendance but not needed.
Board member Brandon Richie was absent. Others present were Building Commissioner Dennis
Manuwal Jr., City Attorney Jeff Houin, and Plan Consultant Ralph Booker. The public was able to
see and hear the meeting through Microsoft Teams.

Board members Wendel and Webster moved and seconded to approve the minutes of the regular
session of October 1, 2024, as presented. The motion carried.

The following legal notice was advertised in the Pilot News on November 21, 2024:

NOTICE OF 116
PUBLIC HEARING
The Board of Zoning Appeals of Legals

the City of Plymouth, Indiana
will hold a public hearing on
December 3, 2024 at 7:30 p.m.
in the Council Chambers of the
City Building, 124 N. Michigan
St (Garro St. entrance), Ply-
mouth, Indiana on the following
matters:

BZA 2024-23: Scott and
Sharon Cooper, 329 Ewing St.,
Plymouth, IN 46563: A Vari-
ance of Dovelopment Stan-
dards to have a 2.3-foot sido
yard setback to build an addi-
tion which does not exceed the
exisling side yard setback, on
parcel
50-32-93-403-528.000-019 lo-
cated al 329 Ewing St., Ply-
mouth, IN 46563, zoned R-3,
Traditional Residential District.

tvio (2) foot side yard setback

for an already constructed 12 x

20 foot storage building on

skids on parcel

50-32-94-000-148.000-018, lo-

cated at 12563 Emerald Ct.,,
BZA 2024-24: Enterprise Hold- Plymouth, IN 46563, zoned
ing. LLC, PO Box 8?5. Bristol, F-2. Suburban Residential Dis-
IN 46507: A Variance of Use for "<,

i BZA 2024-26: Harman Res-
an indoor climate controlled taurants, INC.. 209 N. Main St.,

solf-storage facilily on parcel go,ihon. IN 46504: A Variance
50-32-93-202-100.000:019 l0- of Development Standards to
cated at 320 N. Kingston Rd., have up to eight (8) signs and
Plymouth, IN 46563, zoned increase the total square foot-
C-1, General Commercial Dis- age of the signs to 300 square
trict. feet, on parcel
BZA 2024-25: Sherri Stewan, 22.232?1‘82‘22““222.3;3;?
12563 Emerald Ct., Plymouth, : W
IN 46563: A Variance of Devel- Fmouth. IN 46563, zoned

C-2, Downtown Commercial
opment Standards 1o have a pigyicr.

Information on these malters
may be obtained at the office of
the Clerk-Treasurer, 124 N.
Michigan St., Plymouth, IN, and
telephone #574-936-2124,
Written objections to the pro-
posal filed at the Clerk-Treasur-
er's office will be considered
and oral comments will be
heard. The hearing may be
continued from time to time as
may be found necessary.

I you are disabled and need
special accommodations,
please call the ADA Coordina-
tor at 574-936-2948.

Kyle Williams, Recording Sec-
retary, Board of Zoning Ap-

peals, November 21, 2024.
November 21, 2024 PN381172 heparp

BZA 2024-23: Scott and Sharon Cooper, 329 Ewing St., Plymouth, IN 46563: A Variance of
Development Standards to have a 2.3-foot side yard setback to build an addition which does not
exceed the existing side yard setback, on parcel 50-32-93-403-528.000-019 located at 329 Ewing
St., Plymouth, IN 46563, zoned R-3, Traditional Residential District.

Plan Consultant Booker reviewed the findings of fact and the request from the applicant. He read
the applicant’s letter aloud (see attached letter below).



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Letter of Intent " \

ALL[Y \

October 25, 2024 (|2 \‘nDE)
\
City of Plymouth \
Board of Zoning Appeals =5
Dear Board Members, \\

This Letter of Intent is submitted in accordance with the Plymouth Zoning Ordinance to describe
the variance being requested and the commitments being made by the applicant.

The variance being requested is a setback variance requesting the castern side yard setback be \
reduced from 10" to 2.3". The basis of this request is that the current existing structure has a \
side yard setback off the eastern property boundary of 2.3". The owner of the property wishes

to build on an addition to the residence and that addition would maintain the current setback of \
2.3 feet but would extend it 12 north on the same boundary line. As can be seenin the site

plan, the addition will be added to the rear of the home and will extend to the current existing

side wall off the eastern boundary.

The granting of this request is not injurious to the public health and safety. It is in keeping with \
the environment created by other improvements in the area. The owner is 1grcclng to commit

10 having all new construction meet the fire code dards for residential | Wt within

5 fect of a parcel line. This will Include all interior and exterior wall standards, caves, and

roofing materials. The granting of the variance has a de minimis elfect on anyone as the side \

DETACHE!
GARAGE

yard setback is already preset on the subject parcel and this merely extends that line 12 more
feet. The current improvements on the parcel contiguous with the eastern boundary line are

set off of the line roughly 15", Therefore, if the variance is granted and the improvementis

completed, the separation between improvements on the 2 parcels will be nearly 20°, which Is
in keeping with the ordinance.

We respectfully submitted this variance request for your review and further request you find
the application meets the necessary standards and that you finally approve the application as
requested.

Very Truly,

—_—
—~ ___—{:___/

ttormcy Burke L. Richeson, 29739-50

In-House Counsel, Collins Equity Group, LLC SITE SKETCH PLAN FOR HOUSE & PATIO ADDITION
Construction Management and Design, Inc. AT 329 EWING STREET IN PLYMOUTH, IN

Wendel asked for clarification that the building would not be extended out any further than the
existing building.

Booker replied in agreement and that according to the applicant it would stay the same distance
from the property line as they would just be filling in that corner of the building.

Burke Richeson (1619 N. Oak Dr., Plymouth, IN 46563)

Richeson stated he was in house counsel for Collins Equity Group and they are the builders on this
addition. He stated at the site, the applicant had a state approved in house Day Care Center that they
run out of this residence. He stated they received a grant to do some of these additions and what the
addition would be used for would be a learning center for the daycare students they would have on
the site. He stated this would be used as an educational room. He listed that a permitted use in R-3
was an in-home Daycare Center.

Webster asked how many kids were in the Daycare.

Richeson replied that he did not know the answer to that but that they have operated a Daycare there
for around 10-15 years.

Gidley asked if the applicant utilized the Daycare as their primary residence. Richeson agreed.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Jacobs asked if there would be any windows on the side of the building.

Richeson replied that there would not be any windows on the east side and that the materials would
meet all the fire ratings and standards. He stated the benefit would be large for the Daycare Center
and that the detriment to anyone around would be fairly minimal.

Board members Selge and Wendel moved and seconded to open the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Tyler Shively (333 Ewing St., Plymouth, IN 46563)
Shively stated he was the house just east of the applicant and he wished to state that he gave full
affirmation to the Daycare and had no problem with the project. He added that he did not see this

as invasive at all.

Board members Webster and Wendel moved and seconded to close the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Board members Webster and Wendel moved and seconded to approve BZA 2024-23 as presented.
The motion passed by roll call vote.

Yes: Gidley, Selge, Webster, Wendel, and Jacobs
No: None
Absent: Richie

BZ.A 2024-24: Enterprise Holding, LLC, PO Box 855, Bristol, IN 46507: A Variance of Use for
an indoor climate controlled self-storage facility on parcel 50-32-93-202-100.000-019 located at
320 N. Kingston Rd., Plymouth, IN 46563, zoned C-1, General Commercial District.

Plan Consultant Booker reviewed the findings of fact and the request from the applicant. He read
the applicant’s letter aloud (see attached letter below).




PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

[
Our company vision Is to purch:ase vacated/distressed retall stores/blg boxes and repurpose them as a

modern, efficlent and safe place for people and businesses to store their property. Additionally, we take
vacant propertles In areas of Interest and bulld “ground up” self-storage facilitles.

Ground-Up Bullds; For our ground up bullds we find properties In area we belleve will be perfect for
self-storage and work hand In hand with municipalities to bulld a new facility that will be a bright light In
the community.

All of our converslon projects are upgraded to bring them back to first class condition.
Depending on each property’s needs we conduct the following Improvements:

Fagade: Fagade upgrades (new|slans and fresh palnt) to make the bullding recognizable as a first-class

storage facility 03 opposcd to g bullding out of busl

Parking Areas: All potholes are filled and all deterlorating areas are fixed. If needed, we seal coat and
stripe areas. Once the defects gre corrected and the areas are brought up to a first-class condition, we
will maintaln sald first-class condition year-round.

Exterlor Lighting: We will upgrpde the exterlor lights to new code compllant LED lighting.

Landscaplng: Upgrades to landscaping Including but not limited to removing all current dead areas,
providing new areas, If necessary, and malintaining the landscapling year-round to make sure our outside
appearance Is as good as our inside appearance.

Access: Our 8! see below, staffs the bullding from BAM-8PM. We will Install a
state-of-the-art security system with keypad access control and security cameras (both on the Interior
and exterior).

Tratfic Flow: Our customer traffic impact on our surrounding neighbors and access corridors wiill be
virtually We pate b new ¢ s, leaving ¢ and revisit c
there will be approximately 200-250 cars per month.

Property Management: Our properties are managed by either Extra Space or Cubesmart. Both Extra
Space and Cubesmart, are publicly traded company with over 1500 locatlons each throughout the
United Sates. Both are well-known brands that operate on a first-class basls both In managing the
business and maintaining the property. In our agreements with Extra Space/Cubesmart we are
responsible for all property mpintenance so neither company defers any malntenance. We are not a
hands-off owner as we work with and monitor the property on a dally basls.

We have little traffic, no crowfls, no nolse, no garbage and no peak hours of operation.

Booker provided a recent recap of the zoning at the property as seen below.

History
* June 6, 2023

* Board Members Richie and Secor moved and seconded to
approve

* BZA 2023-11 on the grounds they fix the water issue, mill &
'resurface the parking lot, fix the drainage on the back side, parking
in general, put in sidewalks on the north and west sides, put in
parking for the possibility of the relocation of the church, wrap the
facade or placing drive-it and stucco, that they make it look like
the rendering that was submitted to the board, no rentals of
equipment or outdoor based business lighting, landscaping and
the inclusion of all stated improvements in the submitted letter to
the board as presented. The motion passed by roll call vote.

July 5, 2023

* On July 5., 2023 the applicant requested a reconsideration, but
the applicant did not show for the hearing.

August 1, 2023

* On August ‘_l, 2023 the applicant asked again for a reconsideration
and apologized for missing the last month hearing. The BZA said
they would have a hearing on September 5,2023.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

September 5, 2023

* On September 5, the motion for the reconsideration was: Board
Members Jacobs and Wendel moved and seconded to approve BZA
2023-11 with the following stipulations listed below. The motion passed
by roll call vote. - All water issues are to be addressed. - The fagade will
be painted and fixed if painting is not visually acceptable after 2 years,
then in the reasonable judgement of the Building Commissioner the
fagade will be required to either be wrapped or covered with stucco. -
The fagade will be inspected yearly. - The parking area on the west side
of the Broperty that the applicant wishes to subdivide will need to
either be paved or turned into green space within two years unless the
applicant can sell the property. - The north paved area will be repaved
and stripped for parking.

The sidewalk on the west side, Kingston Road, will wait two years
unless the applicant can sell the property. - The sidewalk on the north
side, Jefferson Street, will need to be installed. Yes: Gidley, Richie,
Secor, Wendel and Jacobs.

Daniel Mackowiak (3625 Cortland Dr., Elkhart, IN 46514)

Mackowiak stated he was the Chief Financial Officer for the new owners of the building purchased
in May of that year. He stated that it was brought up about the fagade, sidewalks, parking lot, etc.
He stated that the fagade was under review and they had a general contractor already hired for that
situation and they had reviewed that fagade. He stated they were looking at alternatives but they
now know that it was a concrete fagade and they were thinking about the best way to handle that
fagade, whether they paint it, shim cover it, or wrap around it but it was still under review. He stated
they were looking into what the structural part of it was and how much it could withstand in tems
of weight and so on. He listed that the windows and doors were no longer feasible for a storage
control unit so they would be taken out and replaced as they would no longer suffice for what they
need. He stated that they had a signed contract with Cubesmart and by their design, they limit the
amount of access points they like. He listed the main office entrance would be on the west side,
three keypad double door entrances on the west side, and then for the back roll-up doors, they would
keep four and remove all the others.

Webster asked if Cubesmart would be the owner of this building.

Mackowiak replied that they would not be the owners but they would be the property managers. He
stated that Enterprise would own the facility and all Cubesmart would do was manage it from the
rental perspective. He stated they are partnering with Cubesmart to handle that particular property.
Gidley asked if that would be the only business on that piece of property.

Mackowiak replied that the only thing they had left open was to deal with the dentist office in back
and they had to clean it up from a landscaping perspective. He stated they believed they would want
to keep it as a doctor or dentist office once it was all cleaned up and Cubesmart had no issue with
using that for any reason. He stated they would hopefully turn that into some extra revenue for them
once it was cleaned up.

Gidley asked if they were made aware of the responsibility to maintain the retention pond.

Mackowiak replied they were and mowed it a few weeks ago.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Gidley described the alarm at the pump there that goes into the retention pond. He stated water
travels into the retention pond, goes underground to another retention area far away, and when it
does not work right it causes an alarm to go off at the pond there. He stated it had been going off
and the neighbors did not know who to contact and the owner at the time, who lived in New York,
certainly did not know it was going off.

Mackowiak asked if the particular alarm was set with a particular company.

Gidley replied that they did not know.

Webster stated the entire retention pond was private and the city had no responsibility on that.
Mackowiak stated that he would have to investigate and see where that alarm goes.

Jacobs believed it was a localized alarm that drives the neighbors crazy.

Mackowiak stated they are going to have people on site between now and when they open so there
would be people there monitoring that situation.

Webster asked if they would have someone there in office.

Mackowiak replied they would be staffed. He stated that in the initial stages, someone would be
there five days a week.

Gidley asked if he was familiar with the discussion about the lot to the west, behind the old Dollar
General. Mackowiak agreed. Gidley asked what his plan was for that area.

Mackowiak replied that they were going to take a straight line down from Dollar General and parcel
that property off and sell it to a fastfood restaruant or something. He explained they did not need
all that parking for a storage facility. He stated they would sell it off and hopefully someone would
turn it into something nice.

Wendel stated the previous owner thought about putting houses in there.

Mackowiak stated he did not believe that would be allowed as it was zoned commercial. He stated
that either way they planned on parceling the property off and selling it.

Jacobs stated if it did not sell in two years that the prior owner would have had to go in and pave it.

Mackowiak explained that Cubesmart needed forty parking spaces at most so they would not need
a parking lot that holds 140 cars.

Jacobs asked what was parked out in the parking lot currently.
Mackowiak replied that he had received a call last week from whoever was doing the sewers on

Jefferson Street. He explained they parked everything there because they were going to come back
in the Spring. He stated they discussed that with the prior owner and he allowed it so Enterprise



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

plans to honor that as well. He stated that it was not in their way and they would be gone by the end
of Spring 2025.

Wendel suggested for the parking space on the west side, they could put greenscape instead of
asphalt.

Mackowiak replied that they have to look at the whole area and determine what was most efficient
as Cubesmart required a particular look as well.

Gidley asked if there were any other local facilities that they had worked on.

Mackowiak replied that they had not at the time as this would be their first attempt at a storage unit.
He stated they had a great General Contractor involved who had worked with some of the
subcontractors recently over the last 3-4 weeks who had built many of these storage units. He stated
the people who would be putting the storage units in do this work all the time for Cubesmart. He
stated they have national contracts nationwide so they do not have to worry as they know how to
install all the units inside that building.

Webster asked how many units they were expecting in the building.

Mackowiak replied that in total they were thinking about 240 units total once it was complete.

Board members Webster and Selge moved and seconded to open the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Randy Longanecker (880 Baker St., Plymouth, IN 46563)

Longanecker stated that as a resident a block away and a city council member, he would support
filling this space. He believed they had seen too many spaces empty in Plymouth and they would
be silly to pass up an opporunity to fill a space. He explained he was crucial of some of the things
that he wanted to see the last time but he would be in support of this.

Linda Hagan (1060 Warana Dr., Plymouth, IN 46563)

Hagan stated she was south of the property and concerned about the lighting. She asked if the
lighting would reach their street and make it so they could not see the sky anymore.

Gidley asked Mackowiak if they would be installing any new lighting on the parking lot.

Mackowiak replied that they would take a look at it when they get to that point as they had not gone
to the extent of the full exterior work left to be done but they would look at that for sure.

Jacobs added there were lighting standards in our zoning ordinance to help prevent that from
happening.

Gidley added that their light would have to stay on their lot.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Webster added that their codes were all online.

Board members Webster and Selge moved and seconded to close the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Board members Webster and Gidley moved and seconded to approve BZA 2024-24 as presented.
The motion passed by roll call vote.

Yes: Gidley, Selge, Webster, Wendel, and Jacobs
No: None
Absent: Richie

Jacobs asked Manuwal if he had their phone number in case the alarm started to go off again.
Manuwal replied that he had one of the partner’s numbers.

Houin added that Manuwal and himself have both been in contact with the applicant.
Webster asked how soon they thought they would be up and running.

Mackowiak replied that they were hoping for January but more than likely it would be in early
March. He explained they still had to get building permits complete and they are behind currently
at the State level, so that was the drag currently.

BZA 2024-25: Sherri Stewart, 12563 Emerald Ct., Plymouth, IN 46563: A Variance of
Development Standards to have a zero (0) foot side yard setback for an already constructed 12 x
20 foot storage building on skids on parcel 50-32-94-000-148.000-018, located at 12563 Emerald
Ct., Plymouth, IN 46563, zoned R-2, Suburban Residential District.

Plan Consultant Booker reviewed the findings of fact and the request from the applicant. He read
the applicant’s letter aloud (see attached letter below).



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Tewvce va Batn oY guogedy\ine o avojess oy
Arousatth ANE FasK o Vo apes AOWoROS Whe. Read

Wordh -~ \Wen LR by, DunveyeE YRS 00e AWNNeD Lk

'agw\\u Ao Mvohed qpeage. Nogieoee Noete.

Ao AR \Bw el aeN Lane Sevee Sonnsd

| Neoinnde .

‘qu';\é\us e eded witaKence \\wo e

A& beXuseess \s\x\\é‘\\:&o&b oprLae.

Staont R Buii Yoo, ened e K ophone

[ A% 35 an awag % aacnaRence 1o \ooed oX, Eul\h\\ﬁ
o b STarn oleRnax, SN ou S A N0 S BE

[\ow c‘;lh'(’s\\c\ *?’\Rxcm’%«?\ : i

et a3/ 115 Rt \oocd S Do HVEA) Sshed o

| Qoo o “Seed. .
PRNESE. ORE GO BT DSOS T 9Ee0 Aro CHRMERAE

o s G R+ R SO0 w0 ToaRS

L NASUESE. G aROOC N Rd\uxﬂo@ N o opad ot SR

[ Qv\c&?%&\\ Ve ro Nae oSN o \cﬁ«m@&\*o
AN N € QT 2 b MBE aiien N © e Sewe @

| oeive = Sde TP SRR

’1‘\\@ enes. 8- SN\ o0\ Vi e Yolse ods\e o
YaceR \oudy Doy QSN HEAES RUERT Nad NS
[ oet o RAacey \ine. oy end R
1N Doemdt Mindes, o \a ey VAW S oS
| Seos STROTS ADeicoates OnRGae. B CRECY.N
redows. 24 Ve e we oo Nae
N ewsd Sochuseed Noe D GREPED €S NeRReoAD
oot ERA Nesre Serdplooessaoumse .
[FTRe UG Ay HeREs At N e esNneNiely
‘Q\ews\%\ﬁ-\\\a eug O‘QB. 52 QORECK &a& o\\
|G HURROUOIVONN N O A DEOAD T
Rood. D S WIS (e ade)
0N QD e W 15 oulemg, Wies assmeX o
ey TRERERNY © SRS,

WeldieaRS \;xxm«i\\/

Ve \noane gadeless |

Vasgose. NSRRI woy b\)b\b\\\{ W Q\ou’b

[NCNESRCAUNN

S WeuNa, s SR e R coNy] Pacesd Ao
e Lorlia o ome. o goaiide. DaeRves Saw,
[soy ABEEAY coatneses cosm Ox) Dune S\,
,\s«\od‘@\w_go O Sne Vi s e ane. E0%0 &
Ae Nimae oo 90D Ao e Natog wellvwne (SR
ARENATRE L 0.5 Dne e Aerne OERGUANEN . cosidue s
NG e \WeRER L TRReR R NARRe (oo Sfhetiadien s
Ko Qracesmedk S AN >So:\\6'\@\:x NN\
QLA W Aaoes Q\U.u(-ea-‘

: T Quewe \\\‘\.\\\\é\b WA aoud @R,

o Dehedned SSEeN ot Nolbe. appraied oL
Ned o to%\meh\e&?’%c-gmu%\ou-‘im&g
A QE SR S Wnak ANee W cs.?\('_.k\\oﬂ

| 2o Se. —té&‘cs\x\\s\:.\m ww&\a\.\:\\B\Q CEEASHNA

[ANNeu W) YA N N e N

[AANReme UMb Qe YeaR . Do o SIS

[ N\ved cpee SN oA\ ey € Ae W\ Nnese.

[Quede ame doidg N o G NPBEH NI AN €
oo Nae awtone. o NMnerse cadess \naNeme.
ey DEN A oceNae e\ SR

ISR 2mme é\'\\&ﬁ%&ﬂ{m\bﬁﬁ\is\\\l 23noum\S e

11&\3*&&“\ .

1. So Qleame NoXe oA AR5 WD CoNAERNR
| ood Renlend Sedtds = e W Aamed.
AR
TR Soa \jooR
AATRE S QOOBRERENGD
ANBERE A PROPERTY GWONRR
‘ I0eeel Dhewnay
e T T — I TE S 1\

|
= Qodlonym e Ko@R some. SN\ (x\:f:-LQ\"&,L‘:
5 NO NS SN ANee SN A OFS TT0 DOOIN NI ‘
e RN IR QG S, Nnesa|
MIRE OSANN N Anete ReRe [awdx \wx\w@f\
NG NO AT R - !‘

SOy DRI :
Booker stated in the past he had this happen many times where a builder comes in and places the
building down without any permits, as people assume if it was on skids, that they do not need a
permit but it does. He stated the applicant was requesting to keep the building at that location where
it was, even with the existing fence that was there. See image below.




PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Wendel asked if the fence was on the property line.

Jacobs replied that the request was asking for a two-foot setback so it was two feet off the property
line. He asked Booker if that was correct.

Booker replied that he believed that was what was asked for in the application.
Jacobs asked the applicant if the surveying stake was in line with the fence.
Sherri Stewart (12563 Emerald Ct., Plymouth, IN 46563)

Stewart replied that it was over 5 % in. off the back of the fence and she had put dimensions on the
diagram provided below. She stated that it angled out to the east where the front stake would be.

/orl~ —
<' il

l

He
‘_‘ '- -

AOCN DY v &

2 f
u 2 o
4 1 J.
6 @ 7
p 2 & +
|7

Jacobs stated the request asked for a 2 foot side yard setback so the shed would have to be moved
over to have a two foot setback.

Stewart explained she did not know where she put that she was requesting a two foot side yard
setback.

Booker stated he interpreted a 2 foot side yard setback from the plans.
Jacobs added that was currently in dispute.

Webster asked if the shed was built on another site and dropped off.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Stewart replied that it was and that there was six inches of limestone underneath it and that the
person dropping the shed off explained that they would anchor it down and that it would not be a
problem. She added if a firewall had to be placed on it, the person who dropped the shed off said it
would not be a problem. She added that may only be the case if the shed had to be moved more
toward the garage. She commented that she did apply for a garage permit about 15-18 years ago
and it was approved by everyone around them and that may be where the number came from for an
attached garage.

Webster asked if there was electric at all in the shed.

Stewart replied that there was not at the time but there was a garage door opener that they could run
electric over to.

Webster asked for clarification that at some point they were looking at running electric to the shed.
Stewart replied in agreement just for the garage door opener.

Gidley asked if it was the plan to extend the driveway because it currently goes out to grass.
Stewart replied that she would put additional gravel down.

Webster asked Manuwal for confirmation if she had to pave the driveway for a residential building.
Manuwal replied that they did not for residential.

Gidley asked if the gravel had to join the existing driveway or if the gravel could go all the way out
to the street.

Stewart replied that she planned to adjoin it and take out the existing landscaping that was in front
of it. She explained there was enough clearance to get the car in but not what she was comfortable
with. She stated she spoke to the contractor who put the gravel down to see if they would extend it
for her and that it would be a possibility once the weather broke after the winter.

Gidley asked if she had to put the gravel down or if the contractor did.

Stewart replied that the contractor had a subcontractor that did the gravel. She stated her plan was
to bring it out more forward and angle it over toward her driveway so it would all blend into_the
driveway.

Manuwal stated that if the garage was to stay where it was at that it would still need to be fire rated.

Stewart explained that would be no problem at all as she already spoke to the person who brought
the building in.

Booker stated he may have misinterpretted the diagram as he saw that the 2 ft./ 2 2 ft. was for the
space behind the building. See attached image below.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

\'.un{l\l’)"‘ (o
() o
Ay N ang [’M
VOSwAS 8
A \ \
J | | i L ie Slonst \x, ¢ \“\},‘
\\‘\lr-\\«.'.', NoNae T Natvo)
, AR YRR YR A A R "
\
. ' A\
L‘-“ o / Ve WAooy o)
N MANN o _
Mo | O\ CRpe S
S )‘\' ~ '-L'/ﬁ- v O \o\wea
Sac\ o i 5
oA L awes % ,\\.\\h'\\‘.\'. D
N ewee b

He explained what the applicant was really asking for would be a zero foot side yard setback as the
actual application did not specify a distance but rather where the building sat.

Jacobs stated that he wanted to be sure if they approved it that it would be what she needs. It was
decided at that time to change the two (2) foot side yard setback to a zero (0) foot side yard setback
as that was the location of where the the already constructed shed was located.

Board members Webster and Selge moved and seconded to open the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Booker presented a petition that was submitted alongside the request.

Wel k\\\\jm\l\‘\uc}\ RedhiMad ~ [STSNICINNEN

WM e 0 Neldihord Wit KN ot \e, AR\
IONAR N OAEE, o oD NN Q\\m‘;\\'\o\\ IS8 TR
Alerilies K N o ReECE o) o \ate. oa ROy
v, X N '\\3& A No W@ W BN o) \\\qﬂﬁ\%‘\\y
T ou\ SN 129 100N RS, G Vienss O\
AN u"&{u:.\x\'b'\ VR _\'\\x N oA A s N '-A\y
aNvoeN we N o N\ QRELCEN Y \nde SLE maRac. NI
R L ANHOIR T ESCRENWRY ol Geotema s ey
K\ woss Peced 1 aundn astec, Nose Nee oo
N\aew €\ Sec FAY e e L U vy Nagess \ﬁ‘\,\\)\ A A
T e 0N e A cae cund o il Resid e NeQe.
Qevwad 3o\ T Near uuee. o el
BRhoRog N aralace Nordae®, Cos \g\z\&*,;;:\}\&:\d
POCAN rg{)‘\i;xc\guc»\\\\lk s RAComE. e AR, t\\\i;\\\\.\‘g&ﬁﬁ\
}'\Q Wee Aok Huilay AN Qoce e oINS
[[AN masmoend WS ostedn

7 ’/mzt, [l [l //}zzoee’é? 2
’ alu;ﬁi bbbeny  1RSOL Erielalil G-
b

\ L
kﬁ‘ A 12522 Gruewsll T
z) \1}35 (_Eml;i/\du (.
M e Z Coensle! (7
1 gm(ﬁ&%\ v/za'of\ voald ¢
s A len /\:z, " ~‘,Dluv':n- 12636 Eacenld CF—
e //,/f:/u,) 128D ffrisioe
| el o 1aoug Emenl (A




PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Aaron Talcott (12537 Emerald Ct., Plymouth, IN 46563)
Mr. Talcott stated he lived at the east adjacent property. He asked if this was surveyed.
Stewart replied there are survey stakes there.

Mr. Talcott explained from what he could tell was that the fence was on the property line or 6 inches
off the property line. He stated if they want to discuss offsets that the fence should be 3 feet off the
property line, and they are not on either side or the back. He explained they had another storage
building and that he was not aware if it had a variance that was 3 feet off the property line.

Jacobs asked why the fence had to be 3 feet off the property line.
Mr. Talcott replied that it was a part of their subdivision code.
Jacobs explained that the Board of Zoning Appeals does not control their subdivision code.

Mr. Talcott stated when they moved in there was only two rules at the time. He listed that a fence
had to be 3 feet off the property line, which was more designed for utility access, and no storage
buildings. He added they changed the storage building rules over the years. He explained that the
applicant currently had their fences on the property line all the way around, so it was not offset.

Jacobs explained that had nothing to do with the Board of Zoning Appeals.

Mr. Talcott stated that was fine, but they had an existing storage building that was 7 x 16 that was
only three feet off the property line so that was not meeting the offsets either. He stated they came
and dropped this building and the funny part about it was they had the list of names that said it was
okay, but it did not affect any of them. He explained it affected them directly and not once was it
mentioned to them ahead of time, during, or since it was put up. He stated that not once it was
discussed with them and then they dropped this huge building on the property line. He stated from
their point of view they do not like it or want it. He stated from their point of view that it obstructed
views. He stated they look to the west and the backyard they see 16 feet of wall and to the front by
the garage they see another 20 feet of wall right on the property line. He stated their problem was
that nothing was discussed or mentioned as typically when neighbors do something like this, they
do but they never did.

Jennifer Talcott (12537 Emerald Ct., Plymouth, IN 46563)

Mrs. Talcott stated Aaron Talcott was her husband, and she had a couple of questions. She asked
what would happen if they ever wanted to extend their garage a few feet for storage but there was
a building there that would tighten it up there more. She asked what if their neighbor to their east
wanted to put a storage building right on the property line. She stated it felt like they were being
encroached upon because there was no space. She stated that they do not have a fence in the back,
and they have a nice big open yard that they maintain. She stated she was also concerned if that
garage were to ever catch on fire and blow onto her house causing her house to burn down. She
stated that the neighbors that signed the petition are not affected by this. She stated the ones live on
the end of the street and not directly next to the property and they are the ones that do. She stated



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

they knew a petition went around from their one neighbor, but they were never asked to look at it
for a reason.

Webster asked if the applicant and them speak on a regular basis at all.

Mrs. Talcott replied that she always says hi and asks how they are doing. She stated it was just an
awkward situation.

Webster stated that it sounded like an adversarial relationship.

Mrs. Talcott stated that was not the case. She stated that they had lived there since 2005, and they
do not cause any issues or anything. She stated she was nervous currently.

Board members Webster and Selge moved and seconded to close the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Wendel stated he saw the storage unit in the backyard and thought it was unsightly. He stated that
he was not sure if this board had any sway over that or not.

Booker stated there was a time that the Building Commissioner did not require a building permit
for any storage sheds, but he told them that it was wrong, and they changed their mind. He explained

that was well before Manuwal though.

Jacobs clarified to not go by the two (2) foot side yard setback as they have well determined that it
was not a two (2) foot side yard setback, and it was set on the property line.

Wendel asked how long the fence had been there.
Stewart replied that the fence had been there since she started living there in 1998.
Webster asked for clarification that she had owned the property since 1998. Stewart agreed.

Wendel asked for clarification that the fence was not a problem until they put the garage in front of
it.

Mr. Talcott replied in agreement and stated that he did not know that the fence was on the property
line until he had to look.

Wendel stated that he would be more upset about the camper parked in someone’s driveway that
had been there for a year. He asked if someone was living in that as he noticed it right away.

Gidley asked for clarification that it would need a firewall one way or another. Manuwal agreed.
Selge asked for clarification that the building was there for the mother’s belongings and car.

Linda Rash (204 Walnut St., La Paz, IN 46537)



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Rash replied that she was the mother. She stated that the gentleman stated that he had not been out
there and did not know about it, but he was out there looking down her fence row well before this
ever happened. She stated that he found out somehow but did not know how. She stated that her
daughter was doing this for her because she knew that eventually she would need assistance and
live with her. She stated that she hoped it would not be for a little while as she was 85 so she knew
it was down the line. She stated that her daughter was doing this for her, and she tried to do this for
the neighbors so that it does not block any view. She stated that it was back about as far as she could
get it without bothering them. She explained it could be pulled closer to the garage if the board
believed it was necessary. She stated that she was appreciative that her daughter had her in mind
for hopefully the next few years.

Gidley asked if there was anything in that garage currently that was hers.

Rash replied that there was nothing in the garage currently and she kept her vehicle parked outside
currently. She stated when it gets snowy, she would like to have a garage as she had one at home
that she kept her car in all the time.

Booker stated the only idea he had was that it could be moved over or move it to another location.
He stated that one thing they did with mobile homes in the county was that they let them have the
building until the person that was using it was no longer using it. He stated that afterward it would
need to be removed but that was just a thought.

Wendel stated he would want the stipulation that once the mother was no longer with them, for lack
of better words, that at the time they would have to remove it. He stated that the shed to him was

visually appealing.

Webster asked what would happen if they decided to sell the house and move to another property.
He asked if it would have to be removed at that time as well.

Jacobs stated that it would have to be removed.
Stewart stated that she would take it with her.

Wendel asked for clarification that she would take the shed with her and return the ground to its
original appearance. Stewart agreed.

Houin suggested better wording for what the motion was. He asked if the motion was to approve
the request for the lifetime of Linda Rash, or until the current owner sells the property. Wendel
agreed.

Gidley asked if this would require a building permit. Manuwal agreed. Gidley explained that they
would have to come in and purchase a building permit. He stated they would also need to have an

electric permit when they plan on installing electricity.

Manuwal replied for an accessory structure permit, they could include electrical into it.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Gidley stated he was concerned with the builders who sell these buildings. He stated they sell these
buildings without telling people that they need a building permit. He stated the applicant should
have known but the builder should have known as well. He stated he was not trying to put the blame
entirely on the applicant.

Manuwal stated that people could go to Lowes and purchase an accessory structure as well.
Board members Wendel and Selge moved and seconded to approve BZA 2024-25 with the

stipulation that the shed remain for the lifetime of Linda Rash, or until the current owner sells the
property. The motion passed by roll call vote.

Yes: Gidley, Selge, Wendel, and Jacobs
No: Webster
Absent: Richie

BZA 2024-26: Harman Restaurants, INC., 209 N. Main St., Bourbon, IN 46504: A Variance of
Development Standards to have up to eight (8) signs and increase the total square footage of the
signs to 300 square feet, on parcel 50-32-93-104-224.000-019, located at 101 S. Michigan St.,
Plymouth, IN 46563, zoned C-2, Downtown Commercial District.

Plan Consultant Booker reviewed the findings of fact and the request from the applicant. He read
the applicant’s letter aloud (see attached letter below).

November 15,2024 101S. MiChigan St. Site
Dear City of Plymouth Officlal, ‘ IR Bl :

Iam applying for a Variance From Development Standards for exterior signage located at 101 South
Michigan St. in downtown Plymouth. i

The purpose of my request is to adequately mark my building in a visually appealing manner that
will enhance the appearance of my property and the dowintown as well.

As you are aware, this building is located on high-traffic Michigan Street, I believe it is unique in
many ways:

o [Lis located on a corner and is not attached to any other buildings.

o ILisalarge building and has four very visible sides.

o Itfaces Michigan Street to the west and the Rees Theatre and oncoming traffic to the north,

o ltoverlooks the Yellow River and oncoming traffic from the south

o Ithasa large brick side to the cast facing Riverpark. (I expect many of our patrons will enter the | &
bullding from the cast because of the parking lot, which makes signage on this side imperative,) | [

I belleve for the most part, commercial buildings that are smaller and have only one or twio sides of
frontage, the current development standards for signage are adequate. But again, my building is
unique and without the signage for which | am seeking approval, | believe the building will actually
look less attractive, It will be barren In some spots, lacking in appearance 50 to speak,

Inshort, I'm seeking a variance in order Lo enhance my property and I believe that granting one will
have a positive effect for downtown Plymouth.

Thank you very much for your consideration,

Sincerely,

Tim Harman



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

To save on questions asked during this request, North American Signs submitted five (5) signs
broken out below.

“Yellow River” on the west side.
- “Tap & Eatery” on the west side.
- Graphics sign on the northwest corner.
- Blade sign on the southwest corner.
- Banner sign on the east side.

w.y

1200y -6

=
IRIVER!

— 2111 9y i 12.0

L=

TAP & EATERY.

|

FACE UIT ILL CABINETS w/ VINYL GRAPHICS.
* SEE PAGE 2 FOU S/GN DETALS

REVERSE-LIT CHANNEL LETTERS
* SEE PAGE 2 FOA S0GN DETALS

FIRST SURFACE WHITE VINYL GRAPHICS

FRONT ELEVATION SIGNAGE - DAYTIME RENDERING

ERST ST (26’»}»‘54”1‘ Stew)

DIBOND FACE MATERIAL

@YELLOWRIVER s S

3mm BLACK DIBOND w. VINYL GRAPHICS
SCALE: 3/8" = 10"
SQFT: 126.0

amn:1



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Blade Sign — Southwest Corner
5’ Wide
e

«

e
1
10’ Tall l
o

w
river >

Tim Harman (209 N. Michigan St., Bourbon, IN 46504)

Harman gave a presentation that helped to summarize some of the reasons.

EXACT REQUEST:

* 8 Signs Total, "
* Including 1 Blade Sign.' -
* 300 Square Feet Total.

WHY THIS IS AN
APPROPRIATE AMOUNT:

Building has 4 large visible sides,
On a visible corner.

Over 300 Ft. in Total Perimeter.
ENHANCE THE DOWNTOWN!!!

. but it’s not appropriate for all.

Booker asked if it was 300 square feet for total amount of signs or just one sign.

Harman replied that it was for the total amount of signs. He explained the sign company had drawn
up 278 square feet and it would be possible to scale some of these down but he did believe the
signage was visually appropriate for the size of the building.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Webster asked if the east side of the building would be an entrance for patrons.
Harman replied that it would be.
Webster asked if he would be receiving deliveries on the east side.

Harman replied that all the vendors would be coming in through the east door. He explained that it
was a unique building where you are ground level in the basement. He stated there was a lot of
square footage of brick surface. He stated there was a total of 311 ft. of total permiter space
according to the Beacon GIS Website.

Gidley asked if the blade sign would be the only sign visable from the south.

Harman replied that the reason they did not put any signs on the south side of the building was that
above the deck, there was supposed to be a sun shade that was not on the building yet. He believed
it would interfere with the sun shade. He explained that he would like to reserve the possibility of
having signs on the north side. He stated there was a lot of brick space that he could fill with a
mural or something. He stated the south side also had a couple bare spots so he was asking for 8
signs to have some flexibility for future use. He stated if he had to come back for a future variance,
then that would be fine as well, but he believed it would be better to wrap it up with one request.

Webster asked if he was downtown walking around that he would have the ability to enter on the
east side of the building. Haraman agreed. Webster asked for clarification that they would also be
taking deliveries in one of the two doors as well. Harman agreed. Webster asked if there would be
a sign above the door saying, “Deliveries Here.” He stated that they would not want them parking
on Michigan Street.

Harman replied in agreement and stated that he was unsure if a sign over the door was considered
a sign or not. He stated he wanted some flexibility in his request. He stated that was ground level
and expected half of the people to enter the door on the right and go up the stairs.

Webster stated that he was looking at it from a logistics point of view.

Harman replied that the beer delivery guys would go do through the door on the left because the
beer cooler would be in the basement but the food vendors would have to go through the front door
mostly as they would not want to haul all of it up the stairs so they would come through the north
entrance.

Webster asked if they would park on Michigan Street or LaPorte Street.

Harman replied that they typically come very early in the morning.

Webster stated there was a lot of traffic on Michigan Street.

Harman stated that he could see them parking on LaPorte Street and trucking it. He stated it may
be better if they face east and park on LaPorte Street due to how the ramp would work.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Gidley asked about the square footage of the sign on the east side.

Harman replied that it was 128 square feet and that he was going off the sign companies data. He
stated that Brian Montgomery, who owns the Coffee Lodge, was the Sales Representative who
helped with this. He stated they recently applied for the commercial revitalization grant from the
city and they had agreed to put 20% toward the funding of the signs. He stated that he told
Montgomery not to build those signs until this was approved.

Booker referenced an earlier statement and stated that informational signs were exempt. He stated
if it stated “delivieries” or “entrance” that it would not need approval from this board.

Houin asked if the blade sign would be illuminated.

Harman replied that it was a thought and that he would appreciate approval for an illuminated sign
as it would be nothing tacky or ridiculous.

Gidley stated that signs downtown are supposed to be externally lit so part of this was a variance
for internally lit signs. He explained the the light should shine on it and not in it.

Harman asked if the Brass Rail sign was lit.

Jacobs reminded everyone that it did not matter what they approved for another individual as every
case was standalone. He stated they take each case separately so if they were to approve one
individual case, that did not mean they had to for anyone else.

Harman stated that would mean he would be seeking approval for that as well as he was not aware
that was an issue.

Board members Webster and Selge moved and seconded to open the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Eugene “Rocky” Talcott (14915 12" Rd., Plymouth, IN 46563)

Talcott stated he was also a merchant downtown about half a block north of Harman. He stated that
he wanted to promote this because the inside ofthe building was phenomenal and would be a unique
building for this downtown. He explained that Harman put a lot of time, effort, and money into this
to make it something. He stated they are all aware that the building had not been a whole lot for a
long time. He welcomed Harman downtown.

Board members Webster and Selge moved and seconded to close the public hearing. The motion
carried.

Gidley stated he agreed with the current count of signs and that he agreed with the color and font.
He stated he wished they were externally lit like most buildings downtown, but it appeared the
applicant was wishing for them to be internally lit. He stated at the minimum, he would like to see
the blade sign externally lit. He stated for the potential signs on the south side above the awning



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

and the ones on the north, that he would prefer they be artwork, like the Rees Theatre across the
street, as there were plenty of signs. He stated they didn’t have to match with the Rees but murals
or something like the hops leaf above the front door.

Selge asked for clarification that he agreed on what was shown so far, but not what was anticipated.
Gidley agreed. Selge believed they should come for another variance if they wanted three more
signs. He stated they still had to open the business so it may be a while before they figure out the
other signs. He believed they needed the signs on the back and front.

Jacobs asked for clarification if artwork was considered a sign or not.

Manuwal replied that a mural was classified as a sign.

Houin stated that Manuwal had the authority to interpret the zoning ordinance and if there was a
disagreement, they had the option to come to them to overrule it.

Manuwal explained that he tried to ask for other opinions.

Gidley stated they had a similar situation with Popeye’s artwork calling that a sign.

Harman agreed with Manuwal that murals are considered signs.

Wendel asked if there would be any lettering on the awning above the deck.

Harman replied that it was a structural design that was metal framing like jousts, so it was four feet
deep north south and 20 feet wide with some cross beams in between. He stated it was not entirely
for shade, but it was to help put lighting on the deck to illuminate the deck. He explained they could
run canopy or something like that to the post to shade the whole thing, but the tree provides a
tremendous amount of shade during certain times of the year.

Jacobs asked if they would have any signage on the awning.

Harman replied that he did not have it in the design.

Selge asked if there would be color.

Harman replied that it was black metal framing that would look cool, but it was design for sun and
lighting.

Gidley asked if he would be painting the building as the images provided seem darker.
Harman replied that he did not plan on painting, but he would power wash the building. He stated
that the brick was in really good shape but there were some spots that needed tuck pointing. He

added that it would be a wasted expense.

Board members Gidley and Selge moved and seconded to approve BZA 2024-26 with the current
five signs that were proposed. The motion passed by roll call vote.



PLYMOUTH BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
December 3, 2024

Yes: Gidley, Selge, Webster, Wendel, and Jacobs
No: None
Absent: Richie

Other Business:

Houin reminded everyone that the Comprehensive Plan Advisory Committee was holding their end
of the year recap celebration that Thursday at noon, at the Heartland Arts Center. He explained that
everyone was invited but asked that they contact Promotion of the City Coordinator Laura Mann as
soon as possible so they could plan food.

He added that the Mayor had to leave early but had made comments at the Plan Commission and
he wished to echo those. He stated that this was Ralph Booker’s last meeting and Ty Adley started
with them that week but could not make the meeting tonight. He stated that he would be working
with Booker over the next month to get settled in. He stated the Mayor had great comments thanking
him for his time/service and wished him well on his journey.

Booker wished to thank the board for all their work as they made the job easier. He stated he enjoyed
this job, but it was time for a change.

Gidley asked if there was a place on the city’s water bill so people could get a message on the water
bill that stated to not build a storage shed without getting a permit.

Houin asked if he read his water bill. He stated he gets an automatic deduction, and he does not
open his most of the time. He replied that it would have to be something discussed with the Clerk-
Treasurer as those bills are pre-printed with all the standard information and he was not aware of
how far ahead they ordered them but believed there was a stockpile. He explained if it was also an
insert that it would have to be discussed with the Clerk-Treasurer.

Manuwal added for the current case outside city limits that an insert would do no good.

Booker stated they either had to set a date for their next meeting in January or for the entire year.
He explained the Plan Commission decided to only set their next meeting for January 7%, 2025.

Board members Jacobs and Webster moved and seconded to make the next meeting date and time
for January 7, 2025, the first Tuesday at 7:30 p.m. in the City Council Chambers. The motion
carried.

There being no other business, Board members Selge and Webster moved and seconded to adjourn
the meeting. The motion carried, and the meeting adjourned at 9:12 p.m.

Totle . pvopta

Kyle Williams, Recording Secretary




